THE JERICHO HISTORIC PRESERVE
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remained of the portion of that eighteenth-century

land. Although these properties were mot threatened by
immediate + county officials were concerned by
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preceding twenty years.
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greatest chamge 10 take place there had occurred in 1928, when
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Turnpike. Then, ten years kater, the Northern State Parkway was
constructed along its southern border, but these projects had
done Bttle 1o alter the appearance of the hamilet.
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until 1953, At that time the Jackson family sold its land holdings
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housing development. Others followed in rapid succession and
were given such names as Oakwood, Rosewood, White Birch,
Birchwood, and Princeton Park, Within a ten year period, the
population of Jericho has risen from about 600 to more than
12,000 persons,

the oldest portion of Jericho remained fairly undisturbed until
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the community. At about the same time, Route 106-107 was
widened and a cloverlcaf was planned for the inersection of that
road and Jericho Tumpike. It was the coastruction of this
cloverical that destroyed a number of historic bulldings and gave
many people the impression that the village has been obliterated.

Jericho, like many of the Lomg Island communities which
evolved during the 15th and 19th centuries, had most of its oldest
structures clustered around a main crossroad. The widening of
these roads to ther present dimensions could never have boen
considered a possibility by the bullders of the houses locared
there and, of course, a cloverical had an entirely different
meaning in thas period. Among the structures which disappeared
because of this roadwork were the post office, Scaman, Jackson
and Underhill family homes, and the old Stagecoach Inn, which
in the 1870% had been a hotel that was known as the Ocean View
House. In addition, this cloverieaf caused the filling of the speing
%tuhddmtkmwmd&duﬂddhtk
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During the 1960 and carly 1970°s other changes, such as the
creation of an industrial park at the western end of the village and
the erection of office buildings along Jericho Turnpike further
reduced the rural character of this community. It also expected
that the Lehman, Meadow Brook Club and Henry W, Underhill
propertics along the north side of Jericho Turapike, would
eventually be developed.

This was the situation which led county officials to advocate
purchasing this small enclave of houses and farm strectures
located along the former route of the Hicksville-Oyster Bay Road
and Old Jericho Turnpike. Acquisition by the Coumty, on April 2,
1974, assured that these properties which had been untouched by
the 20th century, would remain 5o for the benefit of future
pencrations of Nassau residents.

It is not known cxactly when the oldest and most historic
structure on these properties was constructed. This building, now
known as the Elias Hicks house, was probably built by Jonathan
Scaman shortly after his marriage to Elzabeth Willis, in about
1740. Jonathan and Elizabeth Scaman were 1o have three sons, all
of whom died at carly ages, and onc daughter, Jemima, who was
borm on September 2, 1750, Like most members of the Seaman
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family, which had descended from Captain John Seaman, they
were Quakers, As there was then no meeting house in Jericho,
they attended the Westbury Mocting where they first became
acquainted with the Hicks family.

Elias Hicks was born on the Hempstead Plains on March 19,
1748, a few moanths after his father, John Hicks, had joined the
Society of Friends. When Hicks was cight years old his family
moved 1o Rockaway where he attended the local school and took
pleasure in reading the Scriptures. This happy period in his life
ended when he was eleven years old as his mother, Martha Smith
Hicks, dicd and he was sent to live with his brother 10 keep from
falling into bad company.

When Hicks was seventeen years old his father apprenticed him
10 a carpenter, 5o that he could learn a trade. During this period
be also mastered the science of surveying and began 10 devote
himself 10 religious improvement, giving up such frivolous
activities as dancing and card playing. Upon completing this
apprenticeship Hicks joined his family which had moved 10
Westbury and it was there, at the Quaker Meeting, that be met
Jemima Scaman.

On Janwary 2, 1771, Elias Hicks and Jemima Scaman were
married and for a few months they lived at Rockaway. In his
Jam.lﬁdtm“lnmmmawmﬁmmy
wife's relations gave me an invitation to come and live with them,
and carry on the business of their farm, they having no other
child than her. | accepted this proposal, and continwed with them
during their lives, and the place afterwards became my settled
residence.”

Beside Ellas and Jemima Hicks, their houschold consisted of
her mother and father and grandparents, John and Abigail
Willis, and at Jeast three slaves owned by Jonathan Scaman. The
farm a1 that time contained approximately seventy-five acres of
land and also a tannery, located across the road from the house,
That operation included a bark mill, bark house, and shop, while
at the back of the kot was the spring and pond which supplsed the
water needed for the treatment of hides.

In the spring of 1777, some form of Miness struck Jemima
Hicks' familly and her grandmother died on Apeil 29, her mother
and father on April 30, and her grandfather a few woeks later.
With their passing this house and farm became the property of
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Elias Hicks and remained in his possession until his death in
1830,

Like most Quakers, Hicks declined 10 support either side
during the Revolutionary War, While not affected to any great
extent by the war, he was fined several times for refusing to work
on military fortifications, During the latter part of the war he was
also required to give up the use of half a room 10 the judge
advocate. Being forced to give up this space was possibly the
grestest hardship which could have been imposed on Hicks, as
five of his children were then living in the house.

Between 1771 and 1793, Elias and Jemima Hicks had ten
children, some of whoem Eved only a short period of time. Their
second daughter died at two years of age from smalipox and none
of their sons reached maturity. In his Joornal, Hicks stated: “All
of our sons were of weak constitutions, and were not able to take
care of themselves, being 50 enfeebled as not to be able to walk
after the ninth or tenth year of their age, the third in his
seventeenth year, and the youngest was nearly nimeteen when he
died. But, although, thus helpless, the inmocency of their lives,
and the resigned cheerfulness of their dispositions to their
allotments, made the labor and toil of takisg care of them
agreeabie and pleasant, ™

In 1774, Elias Hicks had a “vision of light™ which resulted in a
rededication to Quakerism, This led him 1o begin speaking out at
mectings and traveling in the ministry across Long Island.
Eventually his journeys took him through New York State, New
England, Canada, New Jerscy, Pennsylvania, Delaware,
Maryland, Virginia, and as far west as Obio and Indiana. By
lm.behdmvddmmndo.mmﬂum.bywiuw
thousands of Friends, became one of the most influential
Quakers in the country.

During the 1820, Hicks and his followers became embroiled
in a bister conflict with the more conservative Quakers, While
MthMMwwMyo(theSam. Hicks
belicved that faith in man's “inner light™ would lead them to
goodness. These differences became 50 great that the two groups
separated in 1827 with the majority becoming liberal or Hicksite
Quakers. These factions were eventually reunited, but Hicks did
not live to see it happen. On March 17, 1829, his wife died from
pocumonia and Elias Hicks died at his home on February 27,
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1830, following a paralytic stroke. Acting as executors of Elias
Hicks" estate, his sons-in-law, Valentine Hicks and Robert
Scaman, sold this house and forty acres of land 1o James C.
Haviland on December 19, 1832,

Then followed what was usually the case in Long Island real
estate transactions, a long lst of subsequent owners until the
property finally passed into the hands of Nassau County. Some
well-known Long Island names were included, such as Samod J.
Underhill, Isaac S. Ketcham, William Laurie, then Laurie and
William Jagger, Jr. and their wives, Frances Lauric and Mary
Jagger, who were sisters, By inheritance it went to Frances
Lauric’s daughters, Mary Lauric Scaman and Anna Laurie
Vakentine, them Elas W. Seaman, James W. Scaman, Anna
Seaman, Frederick M. Scichow, Henry W. Underhill, and finally
Lester and Jamice Arstark, the kst private owners. It was from
them that the County acquired the property on Apeil 2, 1974, But
by 1946, by virtee of 50 much activity in ownership, the land was
30 diminished in area that it consisted of the old Hicks dwelling
and only one acre.

In writing of this house, in 1949, Marietta Hicks stated that the
cast rooms and hall were original 1o the period of Elias Hicks and
that Sekchow (the them owner) was restoring the small pane
windows,

On the property immediately to the south of the Elias Hicks
house is located the former home of Dr. Selah S. Carll, a sixth.
generation descendant of Thomas Carll (slso spelled Carl and
Carle) of Hempstead, Thomas Carll's son, Timothy, moved to
the Dix Hills area in 1706, and later members of the family were
all residents of the Town of Huntington.

Selah S. Carll, a son of Phincas Carll who had served as
Supervisor of the Town of Hustington, was born in 1789, Little is
known of his early life, but he appears 10 have moved to Jericho
soon after he had become a doctor. This may be confirmed by the
fact that he was one of a number of village residents who met
there at the schoolhouse, on July 1, 1815, to establish a society 1o
suppress vice and intemperance, Being chosen as a member of the
committee appointed to draft a constitution for this society
would indicate that he was alrcady highly regarded in the
community.

——
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Dr. Carll's selection of Jericho, as a place to live and set up his
puake.mpcobcblynuebmsebcmcmmatmilyof
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of that sect. After becoming established there, Dr. Carll must
have looked for a site near the heart of the village where he could
buisd his own house. This search led him to the property adjacent
1o the home of Elias Hicks and, on May 23, 1816, he paid
Mjmummmnmmmmmmmm
fifty-three square rods of land,

there is mo documentation, it would appear likely
that Dr. Carll had this house constructed shortly after he
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Selah S. Carll and his wife Sally were 10 have at least ten children,
the oldest being Albert G. Carll, who was born in 1819,

On December 17, 1829, the Queens County Medical Society
had been formed and Dr. Carll was one of the first physicians
admitted to that organization. This occurred on May 25, 1530,
when be was elected as a member of the society at a meeting held
in the Queens County Courthouse in Garden City Park. While
there is 80 record of Dr. Carll’s medical carcer it is likely that he
served most of the residents in Jericho and the surrounding area.
It is also probabie that living next 1o ENas Hicks, be would have
treated the noted minister in his final liness.

Dudnuhispaiod.Carllmnaoo!ymmMuaéoau.
but also in his financial ventures, He had begun to speculate in
real estate and purchased, on April 16, 1847, in pannership with
Valentine Hicks, a hotel located on Main Street in the village of
Hempstead, At the time of his death, he owned nineteen separate
parcels of land.

andlD?.&thﬂw.mmdmdm
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twenty years later, on January 15, 1857 and was buried In the
Jericho Quaker cemetery. He was succeeded in ownership of the
homestead by his som Albert, a founder of the Queens County
AuicultumSodaymdhsm”aaty.HchadothvilM
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well as school commissioner, highway overseer, and trustee of the
Jones Fund.
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Following a family dispute, all of the lands which had formerly
belonged 1o Dr. Carll were sold at auction in 1859, the highest
bidder being one Newberry Sprague. Over the years that followed
the house had a succession of owners, including Sprague, James
Makolm, Isaac Ketcham, Ketcham's wife, Sara, and later was
inherited by her daughter, Phebe, who married Henry
McAllister, Jr. and later moved 10 Colorado. Although she
returned (o take care of ber mother in her last Hiness, Phebe never
lived afterward on Long Island and Jeased the house 1o various
residents. After her death the house was owned by her estate ustil
purchased by Nassau County im 1974,

A portion of the Jackson-Malcolm farm was also acquired by
the County om that date. It is partially located on the west side of
the former Hicksville-Oyster Bay Road, although the house is on
the cast side of that road and to the north of Ol Jericho
Turnpike. The first known owners were members of the
Townsend family and it continued im the possession of
Townsends until eventually it was inherited by Dr. James
Townsend. As a young man he had studied medicine in New York
City with the noted physician, Dy, John Bard, After marrying
Mary Hicks, on April 2, 1757, Dr. James Townsend moved to this
homestead in Jericho, where he established his medical practice.

During the Revolutionary War, the British established a camp
at Jericho which was named “Fort Noasense,” [t is believed that
the site of this camp was Jocated on what had been a part of this
farm, The selection of Dr. Townsend's property may have been
determined im part as a form of punishment because he had been
a member of the Provincial Congress prior to the British
occupation of the Island,

In 1789, Dy, Townsend was clocted a member 1o the first U.S.
Congress, bat he died on May 24, 1790, before the session
opened. In addition to the doctor, four of his seven children also
died within a fow wocks of cach other of some unknown cause.
Following their deaths, Townsend's widow moved to Oyster Bay
to live with ber daughter and this farm was sold 1o John Jackson.

Although the exact date that Jackson purchased this property
is unkpown, it probably occurred soon after the physician's
death. This may partially be comfirmed by the Town Records,
which indicate that Jackson was living in Jericho as carly as
November of 179%0. With the sale of the property it was noted that
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“the name of Townsend became extinet at Jericho, where it was
one of the first six European names known. "

Very liatle is known of John Jackson except that he was a
Quaker and a fourth gencration descendant of Robert Jackson,
one of the original settlers of Hempsicad. He was married twice,
first 10 Charity Tredwell in 1756, and following her death to
Margaret Wright Townsend. By his first marriage he had four
children and by his second five more, the third being his son,
Obadiah.

Like his fazher, Obacliah was a farmer and Eke his father he was
married twice, first to Elizabeth Wright, who died shortly
afterward, Then in 1804, he married Rachel Underhill. Almost
ten years (0 the day after this marriage, John Jackson transferred
ownership of this farm 1o Obadiah. In the deed, it was noted as
being “all that certain farm or plantation of lands that |
parchased from the heirs of Doctor James Townsend, deceased, ™

An event took place during Obadiah’s ownership that changed
the appearance of this property. This occurred in August of 1816,
when the barn there was reportedly burned by Walter and Gitbert
Covert. They were subsequently arrested and placed in the
Queens County jail 10 await their trial. While Walter Covert was
acquitted of this crime, his son Gilbert was convicted and
senienced 1o the state prison for ten years. This fire is of special
interest as i provides the date that the present barn must have
been constructed,

The oldest of Obadiah's three children was William who In
turn inherited the farm and continued 1o live there. By his
marriage to Sarah Tappan, he bad one child, Phebe. It was
during William Jackson's ownership of the peoperty that the
main portion of the present residence appears to have been built,

Following his death, the farm was inherited by Phebe and it was
at this time that the name Makolm enters the picture. Phebe had
married James Malcolm, a member of a Scottish family which
had migrated 1o this country in 1804, In addition to farming this
property, Makolm also served as Town Assessor and was a
director of the Oyster Bay Bank.

James and Phebe had four children, onc died in infancy, thelr
two sons had no inerest in farming and Sarah, the fourth child,
never married and became her father's housckeeper after her
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the house and William the farm lands. This dual ownership
continwed uatil thelr deaths in 1948, at which time the entire
property was inherited by James A, Malcolm, Jr.

On Apreil 2, 1974, the western portion of the farm, Containing
the barn, outbuildings and fields were acquired from him by the
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Jackson-Malcolm farm. This land, consisting of a little more
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the Mecting House, former schoolhouse and cemetery. The
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refigious meetings which were held in Westbury. Desiring 10
establish a separate mecting they petitioned the Westbury
Monthly Meeting for permission 10 organize a preparative
m.mmmmedm«my 17, 1787, the
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building committee, composed of Elias Hicks, Adonijah
Underhill, and others, was appointed. The site they selected for
the Mecting House was located on the south side of what is now
Odd Jericho Turnpike and a short distance 10 the cast of the main
crossroads. This property, which was purchased for forty-five
pounds, originally contained one acre and twenty rods of land
and had been part of a farm owned by Benjamin and William
Wright.

According to tradition, Elias Hicks not only surveyed this
property, but also designed and helped to construct this Meeting
House. This building was similar to others of that period on Long
Island, being a two-story, box-like structure with a high attic.
Measuring thirty-six by thirty-three feet, it had the entrances to
provide for the divigoa of men and women, who were further
scparated during the meetings by a partition, Covered with hewn
shingles, this building has been in contineous use since it was
constructod. The only notable alteration made to this structure
was the addition, in 1818, of 2 porch to protect the doorways.

Shortly after establishing their own mecting, the Jericho
Quakers also created a school committee. Elas Hicks served as a
member of that group from 1787 1o 1807, He also taught in thas
schoolhouse on occasion between 1794 and 1798 and his son-in-
law, Valentine Hicks, later served as schoolmaster for one term,
Im 1796 this school was made “select™, or open only to children of
Quakers to prevent outside influences from corrupting them.
Continuing in use as a schood until the 1870'%, this structure now
serves as the residence of the caretaker of the property.

The Friends" cemetery was apparenily created shortly after the
Jericho Momthly Meeting acquired this property. Prioe to that it
wits probably common for people in the Jericho area 10 be buried
on their own land. This was true in the case of Jemima Hicks'
parents, as Jonathan Scaman and members of his family were
baried some distance in back of their house and the graves were
marked by stones bearing their imitials. This was contrary 1o a
rule adopted by the Quakers in the 1760 that all graves should be
unmarked. That custom was followed in the early years after this
cemetery was created and it has left the identity of some of the
persons baried there in question. Despite this it is known 1o be the
final resting place of Elias and Valentine Hicks, and in all
probability of most of the Quakers who lived in this village after
17%7.
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one acre of land with a house, barn, gardens, fences, and other
Wmu.ﬂefmlumewioemwhhhnlhmululoc
a residence on only one acre of kand would further support the
theory that this was a fairly new and substantial house.

Valentine Hicks, the fourth of Samuel and Phebe Hicks® five
children, was born in Westbury in 1782, His father owned a
mrmmusmwwmmmtm.mm
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commission merchant in New York City, Eventually Isaac took
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vemture was extremely profitable and Vialentine was able 10 retire
somctime after 1810 with savings of more than $50,000. When
uked“yhtbdndredfmbuﬁnmuuchuwiym.he
M“thabewlisculauwowdlcobe-ﬂnulom
them rich. "

In 1804, Valentine Hicks had married his second cousin,
Abigail, a daughter of Elias Hicks. Probably this was the reason
be was 1o setthe in Jericho and, in 1814, to purchase this house
which was almost directly across the road from the home of his
father-in-law. At this time Hicks apparently intended to become
a gentieman farmer and enjoy a life of leisure. This plan was
naafulymlmnbemmwliliu}lktson
religious tours of duty, which covered more than 2,000 miles, and
also became involved in a number of local acthvitics.
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and 1838, Finally with his indaws Robert and David Seaman,
Hicks formed a land development company, which was named
the Hicksville Association. When the financial panic of 1837
hadted work on the railroad, its terminus for the mext four years
was near the land owned by this company. The village which then
grow in this area was named Hicksville in Hicks' honor.

Valentine Hicks became Hl shonly after the death of his wife
and be went 10 live at the home of his sonin-law, Dr. Wilkam
Seaman, who was one of the most eminent physicians in New
York Chty. Unfortunately Dr. Scaman was usable 1o belp him and
Valentine Hicks died there on March $, 1850, Two years later, his
executors sold his house to Samee! J. Underhill, an extremcly
wealthy farmer. Following Underhill’s death in 1867 this
property was inherited by his daughter, Phebe Scaman.,

Phebe and ber husband, Elias H. Scaman, were to reside there
until their deaths and then in 1905 the house came into the
possession of their son, James H. Seaman, until 1912, After that
it had a succession of owners ustil finally i 1950 it was purchased
by Percy L. Roberts.

It was Roberts who converted this seventeen-room house into a
restaurant, which was named the Maine Maid. Again there were a
number of subsequent owners until finally it passed into the
hands of Philip G. Munson and Charles B. Gordon. The reason
this house had escaped destruction may be attributed 1o the fac
that it became a most successful restaurant. If this property
should ever be developed, It is possible that the County would
acquire the building and move it onto the castern portion of the
Jackson-Malcolm property where it could be preserved.,

Having examined the history of the properties which have
become the Jericho Historic Preserve, we should mow look
ahcad. The future of this site will cortainly peove (0 be a8
interesting as its past, and probably even more exciting. By
becoming accessible to the public, these lands will now provide
residents of the county with a unique oducational and cultural
complex.,

The Jericho Historic Preserve is being developed as an adaptive
historic arca according 1o Edward J. Smits, Director of Muscum
Services for Nassau County. It was acquired 10 retain a
significant historic environment at a key highway intersection in

| g
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the County before all the historic buildings and custing farm
fixtures were destroyed, While a master plan has not yet been
completed for the long-time development of the Preserve, the
gencral approach toward its future use is underway, As an nit
step the propertics were all reviewed and sufficient preservation
work completed on the historic buildings to ensure their retention
and prevent further deterioration.

mmammbmmmuw.m
cducational use of the farm barn building complex and
surrounding fickds by the Syosset School District. The Jericho
Developmental Learning Farm provides an interesting hands-on
learning experience in farm activities including animal care for
clementary school classes from the district. Staffod by a teacher
and several aides this is an innovative program to stimulate and
enhance the learnicg process for children in developmental
learning classes. The program has been highly sucoessful and it is
anticipated will be a permanent cooperative use of this part of the
Preserve. The restoration of the farm barn, carriage building,
and site, including farm yard and ficlds, is planned for
completion within three 1o five years. Since this use inclades the
retention of a variety of farm animals, it provides a major visual
interest for visitors.

The remaining buildings within the Preserve have been placed
in the museum's Landmark Preserve Program except the Elias
Hicks house. A building review is presently underway 1o
determine its future status considering its significant historical
associations, It & possible that the structure could be cither
completely or partially restored to its historic period and
function as a visitor censer—historic house for the entire Preserve
area. The carriage house on the property is being used as a
scasonal shop by the Friends for Loag Island's Heritage to raise
funds for the Preserve’s restoration program.

The Preserve master plan will also inchude provision for the
possible operation of the Malkolm building as a historic house
since it is in very original condition. It was not included in the
original condemnation since its owner, James Malcolm, desired
1o ensure its preservation and continue the historic family
ownership of the property during his and his children’s lifetimes.
At such time as the family wants to relinquish its wse, the
farmbouse woukl become a major public use clement of the
Preserve.
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The land area of the Preserve along Old Jericho Turmpike
opposite the Friemds Meeting House is being reserved as a
possible site for several other historic buildings. In the evemt
significant structures within the Old Westbury-Jericho area were
threatened on their original site, this could be a practical place to
move and preserve several historic buildings.

The County of Nassau has preserved over 2,500 acres of
natural area throughout the County and the retention of this key
historic environment is an element of the Museum Divisioa's
program 1o preserve and interpret our area’s umique historical
heritage.




